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Prologue


Out of every corner of the woods and glens they


came creeping forth upon their hands for their


legs could not bear them, they looked like


anatomies of death, they spoke like ghosts, crying


out of their graves, they did eat the dead carrions,


happy where they could find them, yea, and one


another soon after, insomuch as the very carcasses


they spared not to scrape out of their graves and if


they found a plot of watercresses or shamrocks,


there they flocked as to a feast for a time, yet not


able long to continue there withal, that in short


space there were none almost left, and a most


populous and plentiful country suddenly left void


of man or beast.


EDMUND SPENSER


Edmund Spenser’s horrific account of starvation, cannibalism and decay described the state of the most fertile province of Ireland in 1582. The celebrated poet and civil servant bore witness to the dreadful spectacle that appalled his eyes and compelled his stern Elizabethan heart to cry out in pity.


A once rich province, the size of modern Holland, Munster lay devastated. Lush green pasturelands were torched to a blackened heath, devoid of crops or animals. Famine stalked rampant through the vales and over the gently sloping hills. Among the smouldering remains the skeletal figures of the surviving peasantry foraged in vain. The castles and keeps of the local aristocracy lay in ruins, open to the unrelenting icy rain that hissed in vengeance on the smoking embers. The people were scattered and hid like wild beasts in the fortresses of Munster’s rugged mountain ranges and in her great, dark forests and  wild glens. They peered silently through the bare branches and waited. They awaited the return of the great overlord their master to whom, by tradition as ancient as the vast oak forests that sheltered them, they had given their absolute allegiance. They waited for him to lead them once more into battle in the bloody and futile war that for over three years had raged and ravaged the countryside.


But the great overlord shared the same fate as his clansmen. Askeaton castle, the mighty pile on the banks of the River Deel, the symbol of his family’s once proud and powerful heritage, lay in ruins. A company of English horse was stabled in its great banqueting hall. Its lord was hunted like a wild animal over the despoiled estates of his Munster lordship. From the lowly wattle huts of his kern, from cold mountain caves to the ruined fortresses of his ancestors, through the marshy recesses of the Glen of Aherlow, into the dark forest of Kylemore and across the tortuous mountain passes to the west, Garrett FitzGerald, the fourteenth earl of the ancient and noble House of Desmond, fled for his life.


He had many impediments in his headlong flight. His once populous army had vanished, decimated more by famine and fear than by actual engagement with the enemy. His erstwhile allies had, one by one, forsaken him. Every friend had become a potential foe as the price on his head increased. His inheritance of over a half million acres of land in Munster provided the incentive and the scent to the eager English greyhounds who leaped from the slips in pursuit. But perhaps the greatest impediment to his safety stemmed from his own physical disabilities. His body had succumbed to the effects of palsy and the Irish ague, the result of lengthy periods of imprisonment and deprivation, aggravated by the dampness that oozed up from the marshes and bogs and by the rain that dripped incessantly from the bushes and undergrowth in which he hid, or from the sodden thatch of the kerns’ cabins when he managed a fitful night’s respite from the elements and the enemy. Yet despite these overwhelming liabilities, the earl had one remaining asset—his countess, Eleanor.


By 1582 Garrett and Eleanor had been married for seventeen years. It had, at first sight, seemed an unlikely match—the pale, proud Geraldine widower and the lively young girl from the rival Butler family. But Eleanor had soon proved her worth by bringing to the marriage certain qualities—coolness, prudence, pragmatism, skill in diplomacy, and an instinctive grasp of political realities—which might  offset the less balanced traits of her husband. For the earl’s outlook was rooted firmly in the feudal tradition of a bygone era from which he derived his jealously-guarded status as the absolute ruler of a territory larger than that of any other magnate in either England or Ireland. His pride and vanity and his aristocratic temperament made it impossible for him to come to terms with the challenges of a new age, typified by the Tudor monarchy, with its commitment to progress, reform, modernisation and the establishment of strong, central government. Such ideals were anathema to the autocratic Earl of Desmond, and were bitterly resented by him as an intolerable affront to his ancient and customary rights, powers and privileges. His diehard attitude set him inevitably on a collision course with the relentless forces of change; and the struggle, if he persisted in it, could have only one outcome. His young wife, with her greater intelligence and political awareness, perceived the likely trend of future events and determined to do everything in her power to safeguard her husband’s interests and try to make him adapt to the unfamiliar new power structure in Munster. And even if Garrett himself was doomed to destruction, Eleanor saw it as her duty to ensure the preservation of his earldom for their son and heir.


With great skill and courage, the capable and strong-willed countess set about her difficult task. She first sought to act as a moderating influence on her volatile and headstrong husband. Where he threatened and raged against his English opponents, she counselled caution and diplomacy. Where he engaged in wild schemes or contemplated treasonable conspiracies, she conducted negotiations on his behalf with government officials. Where he took reckless and precipitate action, she moved swiftly to defuse the dangerous situation. On numerous occasions she mitigated the ill effects of his irresponsible and, at times, irrational behaviour. Eleanor had also to contend with threats from other quarters. Ruthless Tudor administrators intent on the ‘pacification’ of Ireland; rapacious English soldiers and government officials; neighbouring lords, envious of the earl’s vast domain; power-hungry rivals from within his own family—all these desired Garrett’s downfall and hoped to profit from the confiscation of his estates.


The precarious political state of affairs in Munster was further complicated by the intrusion of a new ideological dimension arising from developments in international politics. On the one hand, a group  of Catholic zealots were attempting to use Munster as a cockpit from which to launch a crusade, with papal and continental backing, against the ‘heretical’ English Queen, while on the other, the fanatical Puritan officers of the English army were remorselessly determined to stamp out every vestige of papal influence. Finally, there was the age-old problem posed by the multitude of undisciplined, idle swordsmen who surrounded the earl and whose only trade was war and rapine. There was no future for such men in the new Ireland that was slowly and painfully coming into being; the archaic world of these Gaelic and gaelicised clansmen was already doomed, and if their hereditary overlord, the Earl of Desmond, allowed his interests to be identified with theirs, then his fate too was sealed.


Eleanor’s efforts in the face of such opposition made many demands on her varied abilities and on her courage. It was she who single-handedly administered the Desmond estates and revenues during her husband’s long absence in England. It was she who loyally shared his years of sordid captivity, nursed him through his illnesses, and petitioned for his release. It was she who kept a close watch on the devious activities of his enemies in Munster and on the even more sinister machinations of certain of his own kinsmen and followers. It was she who conducted important negotiations with successive governors and central and provincial administrators. Her concern for the future of the earldom of Desmond led her to confront the Queen of England and to maintain contact with her over the years by means of astutely worded diplomatic missives. The cold hostility initially displayed by the unfriendly sovereign was gradually replaced by a grudging respect for the Irish countess. In her endeavours to save the Desmond inheritance from confiscation and dismemberment, there was no one, English or Irish, who played a significant role in the affairs of Ireland with whom Eleanor did not confer.


And now, even after her husband had been proclaimed a traitor and a rebel, she refused to give up hope. Her home had been destroyed, her children scattered, her husband hunted as a fugitive, forced to seek refuge in remote forests and glens. Now once again, as the harsh winter weather penetrated the densely wooded Glen of Aherlow in the early weeks of 1582, she shared the misery and humiliation of his furtive existence—now cowering beneath a thick mass of undergrowth, where the exhausted earl had collapsed, while a scouting party of English soldiers from the garrison at Kilmallock scoured the area in  search of them; now swiftly mounting her horse and decoying the soldiers on a mad chase further and further away from her husband’s place of refuge; now wearily returning to nurse the ailing and semi-crippled earl; now composing a letter to the Privy Council; now dashing off northwards to intercede with the Lord Deputy or one of his officials; now suddenly reappearing with news of the approach of another posse of soldiers; now hurrying with Garrett from one wretched hiding-place to another.


The life of Eleanor Butler FitzGerald, Countess of Desmond is testimony to the struggle of a courageous, spirited, enduring and gritty woman who refused to abandon hope in the face of an inexorable fate which sucked more powerful than she into its maw. And while it may appear that she failed ultimately in her goal to save her husband, her family, her home and her inheritance, her failure is heroic, her path towards it a triumph of the human spirit. One can only stand and applaud in amazement and admiration this forgotten heroine of the Tudor wars in Ireland.


While Eleanor may have lived 500 years ago, the personal trauma she experienced by the violent and systematic destruction of the fabric of her native society and way of life has reverberation and relevance today. Women in Bosnia, Somalia, Iraq, Afghanistan, Palestine and elsewhere, the mothers, wives, grandmothers, widows, sisters and daughters of the indigenous populations, have lived and continue to live through political, military and social upheaval, their lives torn asunder by forces, both foreign and local, over which they have little control. And yet despite such insurmountable odds, in the midst of such a hostile environment, these unsung heroines continue to protect, nurture and provide for their families and keep hope alive.


And it is to these brave women this book is dedicated.












Chapter 1


The Baron’s Daughter





Sometime let gorgeous Tragedy


In sceptred pall come sweeping by,


Presenting Thebes, or Pelops’ line.


Or the tale of Troy divine.


MILTON, ‘IL PENSEROSO’


Eleanor Butler was born at Kiltinan castle, near Fethard, County Tipperary, about the year 1545. She was the second daughter of Edmund Butler, Lord Baron of Dunboyne. Her mother was Cecilia (Síle), daughter of Cormac Oge MacCarthy, Lord of Muskerry, County Cork, and widow of Sir Cormac MacCarthy Reagh. Eleanor had eight brothers, James, John, Piers, Richard, William, Thomas, Nicholas and Walter, and three sisters, Ellis, Katherine and Joan. Kiltinan castle was the principal seat of the family. At the time of Eleanor’s birth, her father also possessed the castles of Dangan, Boytonrath, Grange, Ballygellward, Grallagh, Moygarth, Tyrnwyane, Cashel and Fethard.


Her father’s title ‘Dunboyne’ denoted the family’s association with Dunboyne, County Meath. The connection can be traced back to the Norman invasion of the twelfth century. In 1172 Hugh de Lacy was granted the lordship of Meath. On his subjugation of the local Gaelic clans he granted the manors of Dunboyne and Moynett to one of his followers, William le Petit. William’s line continued until the reign of Henry III, when the sole heiress, Synolda, married Thomas Butler (le Botiller), third son of Theobald Butler, lord of the territory of Ormond in Munster. By this marriage Thomas Butler became the Baron of Dunboyne and removed his residence to County Meath.  The title, however, was not officially sanctioned until 1541, when Eleanor’s father was formally created Baron of Dunboyne by royal patent of King Henry VIII.


The Dunboyne Butlers’ re-connection with their Munster origins began in the fourteenth century, when Peter, second Lord Dunboyne, married the daughter and heiress of John de Bermingham, lord of Kiltinan and Knockgraffon, County Tipperary. The de Bermingham family had long been settled in County Galway, but one of their house had married the daughter of Philip of Worcester, the original grantee of the Kiltinan properties. The de Berminghams maintained their interest in Kiltinan until the mid-fifteenth century, preferring to base their claim, not on the feudal law of their ancestors, but on the more ancient Gaelic code, whereby property was retained by a family’s more powerful members without much regard for proximity of blood or inheritance. In view of Peter’s marriage, his grandson, Edmund, fourth Lord Dunboyne, staked his claim to Kiltinan by right of his de Bermingham grandmother. But the de Berminghams by 1410 had granted the castle to the third Earl of Ormond’s illegitimate son, Thomas Butler, Prior of Kilmainham, in an attempt to circumvent the claims of the Dunboynes. The fourth Earl of Ormond, as overlord of the area, decided that only a duel could cut through the tangled legal web over ownership of Kiltinan. Consequently in the spring of 1420 Edmund Butler of Dunboyne fought a desperate duel to the death with the prior’s son, also named Edmund. But Dunboyne was fatally wounded, and the prior’s son won a brief respite for his family. The prior’s descendants continued to hold Kiltinan until 1452, when the scales of justice were finally balanced. An interest in the property was conveyed to another Edmund Butler of Dunboyne, nephew of the duellist, and the Dunboynes finally entered into their rightful inheritance, albeit one and a half centuries late.


The rock fortress of Kiltinan castle stands in an imposing and picturesque location in the shadow of Slievenamon, some five kilometres from Fethard, County Tipperary. It is strategically situated above a steep ravine overlooking the Glashawley river, a tributary of the Suir. It commands a fine view over the rich pasturelands of the Suir valley sweeping away to the south and to the Comeragh and Knockmealdown mountains beyond. A remarkable geographical feature associated with Kiltinan is the ‘roaring spring’, where an opening in the rocks leads to an underground river from which a  spring emerges; an internal waterfall or cascade is thought by geologists to be responsible for the roaring sound. Described as ‘the castle and dwelling-house of the Lord of Dunboyne’,1 it was built towards the end of the twelfth century.


In Eleanor’s time Kiltinan was a formidable structure of considerable size. It comprised a large quadrangular courtyard bounded by four towers, one of which was circular; they were built of limestone and sand mortar. The remains of the circular tower, its walls some seven feet thick, can still be seen today. Two of the square towers were subsequently incorporated into the manor house which still occupies the same site and which has recently been magnificently restored and renovated by its more recent owners. Kiltinan is now in the ownership of composer Sir Andrew and Lady Lloyd Webber.


The roadway to Kiltinan castle in Eleanor’s time would have swept up to the great arched gateway, flanked on either side by two three-storeyed towers, rising high above the curtain walls which linked the towers one to the other. The spacious courtyard was a hive of activity as the guard, servants and labourers of the baron went about their allotted duties for the defence and maintenance of the castle and its inhabitants. High on the wall-walk, inside the parapet, sentries kept a watchful eye on the surrounding countryside. In the courtyard water was drawn in iron-bound wooden pails from the underground Glashawley spring. Wood was cut and stacked ready for use in the kitchen and to warm the great hall and living quarters. At one end of the courtyard the baron’s horses were maintained by the grooms and horseboys, while in an adjoining shed the castle’s smith pounded the red-hot iron into shape, pointed the lances and swords and riveted the armour for the baron’s cavalry. A fire glowed in the centre of the yard around which armed men hunkered and awaited the baron’s orders. Through the gateway, carts laden with sacks of barley and wheat, vegetables and poultry, butter and cheese, wood and straw, the obligatory payment in kind of the tenants to the lord of the manor, trundled over the cobblestones.


Inside the castle the narrow corridors and the stone spiral stairways leading to the upper apartments were dark and gloomy. Shafts of light filtered through the defensive slit windows and the musket and archery loops. Dark corridors ran along the inside of the outer walls, with doors leading into various chambers. On the second level an arched opening from the stairway led into the principal chamber of the castle, the great hall, a lofty room, running the entire length of the  castle, its ceiling spanned by great oak beams, the walls lime-washed, and the limestone floor polished to a sheen. Light poured into the chamber through wide, arched windows set in deep embrasures, with stone window seats covered with cushions. From the windows there was an all-encompassing view of the rolling Tipperary pasturelands. A table, richly carved of solid oak, dominated the top of the room, flanked by two iron candlestands. The walls were dotted with iron brackets to support the large tallow candles used to light the room. Off one end of the great hall was the baron’s kitchen, buttery and pantry where the servants prepared the food and drink for his table. When the baron entertained his neighbours and friends or received a visit from his overlord, trestle tables were set up within the hall to accommodate his guests.


The bedchambers on the next level were small square rooms, each dominated by a four-poster bed with a canopy of strong damask or rich velvet. By modern standards the rooms were spartan and, apart from the bedstead, furnishings consisted of a linen box, a cupboard containing a water ewer and basin, and a press for clothes. Adjacent to the lord’s bedchamber was his private chapel, elaborately decorated with fine plasterwork and a window of stained glass. Life in such sixteenth-century castles was both cramped and chilly. Their primary function was defensive. They had been built in the twelfth century by the Normans to hold the land they had conquered and, in the changes undertaken by their descendants, the defensive aspect of their design was carefully preserved.


In Eleanor’s day a medieval village, also of Norman origin, flourished outside Kiltinan castle. The village consisted of a street of cottages and craft workshops with lanes between the houses leading off into the surrounding countryside. The village craftsmen and workers supplied the castle with their wares and services. A few kilometres south of the castle stood the important medieval town of Fethard. It had been created an archepiscopal borough by letters patent of King John and had been a busy market town for many centuries. In 1553, on petition of the burgesses and commonalty of the town, a new charter ordained that the borough should become a corporate body with the same privileges and liberties as Kilkenny. The charter was subsequently confirmed by James I in 1608.


Together with his administrative and military powers as seneschal of the area, Eleanor’s father was also a substantial landowner. He  received specific rents and services from those who held lands under him. As was the custom, he either leased out land, usually for a period of twenty-one years, for a fixed rent, or let it on a share-cropping basis, providing the tenant with either one-third or a half of the seed for the consideration of what was known as the ‘third sheaf’. His tenants, especially the more substantial, further sublet the land to others.


Lower in status than the tenanted classes in both the Gaelic and Anglo-Norman lordships was the great mass of land cultivators, herders and labourers, referred to collectively as ‘churls’. Neither owning land, or stock, and not allowed to bear arms, they were dependent on their masters. Together with the ‘third sheaf’, the tenants provided obligatory labour for the cultivation and harvesting of the baron’s crops. There was a greater emphasis on tillage within his lordship than in Gaelic-held areas, with crops such as wheat, rye and barley as well as vegetables cultivated. Pigs and sheep were also reared and, in common with most of his contemporaries, the baron maintained a stud, Ireland being noted then as now for its ‘great breeds of horses’.2 Falconry and hunting were the main outdoor recreations; chess, dice and backgammon helped while away the long winter evenings.


Eleanor’s childhood and girlhood were spent mainly at her father’s castle of Kiltinan, where she grew up in an environment influenced by the two principal traditions that dominated sixteenth-century Ireland: the old Gaelic civilisation, which, after the reversal it had encountered in the twelfth century, had over the succeeding centuries staged a gradual but steady recovery; and the feudal tradition of the Anglo-Norman settlers, which had succumbed in varying degrees to the resurgent Gaelic culture. The Butlers were among the original Anglo-Norman invaders but, like their FitzGerald and de Burgo fellow-conquerors, they had, through proximity with their Gaelic neighbours and especially through centuries of intermarriage with the Gaelic aristocracy, become gaelicised, to varying degrees. Eleanor’s mother was a MacCarthy, and she had previously been married to Cormac MacCarthy Reagh, by whom she had one son and four daughters. One of Eleanor’s half-sisters was in turn married to John Butler of Kilcash, and another was the wife of James FitzGerald of Decies, County Waterford. The incidence of intermarriage between those of Anglo-Norman descent and the Gaelic aristocracy was high, and most of the great dynastic families of both groups were blood-  related. This feature also led to many incidents of incestuous marriage; Eleanor’s own father had a daughter (later married to Seán an tSléibhe O’Carroll) by his half-sister, who later married Sir Piers Butler of Cahir. Eleanor’s uncle Peter Butler was married to Honora, the daughter of James FitzGerald, eleventh Earl of Desmond. Her aunt Joan Butler had married Roland Eustace, Viscount Baltinglass, while another aunt, Ellen, married David Roche, Viscount Fermoy, thus linking her family with many prominent houses both Gaelic and gaelicised.


The Dunboyne Butlers were a cadet branch of one of the great dynastic families of Ireland, the Butlers of Ormond, over whom the Earl of Ormond was the titular head. The earls of Ormond enjoyed palatine jurisdiction over their estates in County Tipperary, which made them very powerful indeed. This privilege, given them by the English Crown, endowed them with the power to establish courts of law, administer justice and appoint court officers, ‘thus ensuring that it was they rather than the King who were the ultimate arbitrators’.3 The earls of Ormond owed theoretical allegiance to the Crown, but they jealously guarded their independence. While they administered their vast estates by right of feudal law, the indigenous Gaelic law had, over the centuries, infiltrated, and by the middle of the sixteenth century many Gaelic customs and practices were prevalent in Ormond.


The Gaelic or Brehon legal and social system was distinct to Ireland and had evolved over the centuries from its Celtic origins. It was geared to an agrarian economy and society. Gaelic society comprised septs or ‘nations’ of independent chieftaincies, and was based on the concept of a patrilineal ‘descent group forming a definite corporate entity with political and legal functions’.4 The existence of so many independent entities, each ruled by a chieftain that ‘maketh war and peace for himself . . . and obeyeth to no other person . . . except only to such persons as may subdue him by the sword’,5 gave rise to much tribal warfare and unrest. It was also to irk the pride of the Tudor monarchs who, in the early years of their rule, had extinguished similar independent posturings among the English nobility, and who, more recently, in 1537, had inflicted a ruthless chastisement on the powerful House of Kildare when it had shown an inclination towards independence.


The clan was the centre-point of the Gaelic system and set it apart. The leader or chieftain of the clan was elected by the ruling sept  instead of succeeding by right of primogeniture as was the English custom. The tenure of land also differed from the English practice. It was conducted according to a complicated system of land distribution whereby, on the death of a landholder, the land was shared out among the ruling or landholding members of the ruling family. The chieftain retained a life interest only in the clan land and could not bequeath it to his son. Although a woman could purchase and inherit land in her own right, she was prohibited from disposing of it outside the clan. The wealth of the clan was measured not in the extent of its territory but in the number of cattle it possessed. Cattle were the principal symbol of wealth and often the cause of disputes. The power of the chieftain was measured by the number of his followers. Each chieftain accordingly strove to have as many armed men in his company as he could afford. Similarly, it was important for the chieftain to maintain a large workforce of servants and labourers for the more servile work of tending and protecting the cattle herds, tilling the soil, and providing sustenance and accommodation for his band of warriors.


The chieftain was also in receipt of certain dues and services exacted, often by force, from client chieftains. Under various laws he had the right to a wide range of privileges, such as free entertainment for himself and his extensive household, specific provisions for his horses and hounds, and the right to his clients’ attendance with a fixed number of armed men whenever he summoned a hosting. The whole system of sustenance for the lord became known as ‘coyne and livery’ and was, in effect, the basis of Gaelic authority. By the middle of the sixteenth century, many of these practices had also been adopted by the Anglo-Norman lords.


Fosterage played an important role in Gaelic society. The sons of chieftains were fostered, usually in the household of a dependent chief, who considered it an honour and a social and political bond between the two families. The system found little favour with the English administration, but fosterage survived, was widely practised and, in the course of time, had penetrated Anglo-Norman society also.


Like their Anglo-Norman counterparts, Gaelic chieftains adopted stone castles as places of dwelling and protection. In large banqueting halls, attached to the main tower, they held court and entertained lavishly. Every chieftain of note had his ‘brehon’ or judge who interpreted and administered the law within his territory. He also had  a bard (ollamh dána), who enjoyed a special status in the chief’s household and whose basic duty was ‘the eulogy of the great and glorification of their deeds’.6


The chieftain employed three groups of fighting men. The first was the cavalry, recruited from within the ranks of the ruling sept or the more prosperous elements of the landowning class. Then came the galloglass (gallóglaigh, ‘foreign warriors’), the heavy infantry of the chieftain’s army, being selected men of great stature and strength, armed with long sword and battle-axe. Originally from Scotland, some had settled in Ireland, where they were given tracts of land in payment for their services as a standing army for the Gaelic chieftains and Anglo-Norman lords who could afford to employ them. The Butlers’ traditional galloglass were the MacSweeneys. The third category of fighting men were the kern (certhearnigh); skilled in the use of bows and arrows and darts, they were the lightly-armed foot-soldiers of the chieftain’s army.


Most of the Anglo-Irish lords and the Gaelic chieftains, despite the Reformation in England, still adhered to the old religion. But Catholicism in Gaelic Ireland differed from that practised on the continent. The sweeping reforms of the preceding centuries had, by and large, failed to apply in Ireland. A pattern of hereditary clergy had evolved where members of a particular family were invested with positions of high office in the church. Many of the bishops and clergy were married or maintained concubines. ‘In no field of life was Ireland’s apartness from the mainstream of Christian European society so marked as in that of marriage. Throughout the medieval period, and down to the end of the old order in 1603, what could be called Celtic secular marriage remained the norm in Ireland and Christian matrimony was no more than the rare exception grafted on to this system.’7 There was also a high incidence of divorce, which was a legal right and could be invoked by either spouse. Plurality of marriages, many within the restricted degrees of consanguinity, as well as trial marriages, were common within both the Gaelic and the gaelicised lordships. Offspring born outside wedlock were not penalised in their rights of either succession or land tenure. Conn Bacach O’Neill, first Earl of Tyrone, stoutly declared that he was a man ‘that never refused no child that any woman named to be his’.8


Thus Eleanor grew up in a society which, while it adhered in many ways to its Anglo-Norman origins, had also absorbed into its social and  political structures many of the trappings of the Gaelic world that surrounded it. Her Gaelic mother would have further strengthened this development in the house of the Dunboyne Butlers. Their overlord the Earl of Ormond was, however, a loyal supporter of the Tudor monarchs and the least gaelicised of the Anglo-Norman lords in Ireland. Eleanor’s father, together with his brother Peter, had served under the Earl of Ormond in the army of Henry VIII in France. They had seen action at the sieges of Montreuil and Boulogne. After the inexplicable death by poison of the earl in London in 1546, his son Thomas, known as Black Tom, then just fifteen years old, was brought up in the new Protestant religion at Court, as a friend and classmate of the young future king, Edward VI, and the future queen, Elizabeth I. Black Tom was to remain at court for many years before he entered into his inheritance in Ireland. During his absence Eleanor’s father was placed in charge of the earl’s forces in Ormond to repel the increasingly frequent raids of the neighbouring O’Carrolls of Ely. He was appointed Seneschal of the Liberty of Tipperary, an office held by each successive baron since 1295. Duties involved the stewardship of the earl’s domains, the exaction and collection of his rents, dues and services, and the administration of his palatine court at Clonmel. Kiltinan bustled with activity during the early years of Eleanor’s childhood.


Life for the daughter of a nobleman in the sixteenth century had its set pattern and its responsibilities. From the day of her birth Eleanor was groomed as a potential wife for some Anglo-Norman lord or Gaelic chieftain. Provided their credentials and assets were acceptable to her father and an agreement was reached on a suitable dowry, Eleanor would be given in marriage to the most suitable applicant. Political and financial considerations tended to dictate the matrimonial lot of women in the higher echelons of Gaelic and Anglo-Irish society. It was usual for girls to marry at the comparatively early age of fifteen or sixteen. Given in marriage to one of her own class, Eleanor would eventually become chatelaine of her own castle. With the privilege went the responsibility to oversee the upkeep and maintenance of her husband’s castles: food and furnishings bought, stored and replaced; servants hired, fired and trained; banquets organised to impress a neighbour or to honour an overlord; household linens, utensils and liveries selected and accounted for.


To efficiently administer a large mansion with servants and retainers, to entertain and converse diplomatically with both friend  and foe of her husband, involved a level of political and social awareness. In preparation for her exacting future role, Eleanor received some formal education, and English and Gaelic tutors taught her to converse ably in both English and Irish. She learned to write in both languages, and she became a prolific letter-writer, able to express herself succinctly and well, with an intelligent turn of phrase and a political insight that denoted an informed and comprehending mind. She was an able horsewoman, a skill that was to stand to her many times in the course of her traumatic life. Gaelic Ireland is often inaccurately depicted as having been a totally male-dominated society where women fulfilled a mainly subservient role, confined to domestic duties of housekeeping and child-rearing, and rarely becoming involved in the political turmoil of the times. On the contrary, there are many examples of women, mainly in the higher orders of both Gaelic and gaelicised society, who were actively involved in politics, not only in a supportive or advisory capacity to their husbands, but also as strong-willed and independent participants in their own right. Eleanor was to become a prime example of this little-acknowledged fact.


It was reputed that she was tall in stature, with light brown hair. On special or formal occasions she dressed in the current fashion of the day, in gowns of taffeta, velvet or fine cambric, edged with lace, as befitted her station. Her wardrobe might be purchased in Dublin, which tended to follow English fashion, or bought from the travelling merchants, who brought with them the fashions and fabrics of the continent, imported through the ports of Waterford, Cork and Kinsale. The native Irish attire of the time, a linen or fine woollen smock reaching to the ankles, with long wide sleeves falling in folds at either side, over which was worn a sleeveless dress with a laced bodice, dyed saffron or russet, might well have been worn by Síle MacCarthy’s daughter on less auspicious occasions. The great Irish mantle of warm wool, with its thickly fringed collar, was worn by the upper classes of both cultures.


Travel was a difficult and hazardous undertaking in sixteenth-century Ireland, owing to the absence of a developed road system and also to the unsettled state of the country. But journeys, however hazardous, had to be undertaken as business was contracted, military campaigns conducted and social visits made. Such social occasions were marked by banquets, often lasting several days, when family, relatives, friends and foes, converged on Kiltinan. In the great hall the  baron’s chief steward conducted each guest to his allotted place in strict order according to social and political status. On the trestle tables joints of beef, mutton, venison, poultry and game, boiled or spit-roasted, were laid. Wheaten bread and oatcakes were in plentiful supply, as were vegetables such as cabbage, onion, leek and watercress. Wines from France and Spain, imported through Youghal or Waterford, native aqua vitae (uisce beatha), ale and mead, ‘the dainty drink of nobles’,9 accompanied the plentiful helpings. Gaelic chieftains in their tight worsted trews and short quilted jackets of fine leather, their hair falling around their shoulders, mingled with the lords of the Pale, clad in doublet and hose. The long hall, warmed by a glowing brazier in the centre and lit by the flickering torches on the wall brackets, reverberated with a mixture of English and Gaelic tongues. A bard rose and sang the praises of Eleanor’s father and his house, while her mother’s MacCarthy origins were equally lauded. A verse extolling the baron’s hospitality and the beauty of his wife and daughters followed. Games of cards, dice and backgammon were played and, as the night wore on, the bids became more reckless, and many a horse, jewelled dagger, silver plate, herd of cattle or tract of land changed hands. The harp and the pipes were played for the dancers, whose capering shadows cast silhouettes on the stone walls.


Eleanor’s childhood, however, was not all feasting and revelry. Her early years were disturbed by a bitter feud between her father and her uncle which drove a wedge, not only between the brothers, but between her father and his great overlord, the Earl of Ormond. The feud had its origins in 1524 when Eleanor’s grandfather, Sir James Butler, concluded a family settlement of his estate, bequeathing the greater portion to his eldest son, Edmund, Eleanor’s father. He also directed that his second son, Peter, was to receive the castle and estate of Grallagh, while Thomas, his youngest son, was to inherit Boytonrath and other lands near Cashel. Edmund was Peter’s overlord to whom he owed allegiance and, among other things, a ‘suit and service of six footmen and one horseman’.10 Despite their initial co-operation, on their return from the wars in France, a growing enmity developed between the brothers over possession of the Grallagh estate. Edmund claimed that the estate was entailed on the barons of Dunboyne and that his father had no right to bequeath it to Peter, who, he contended, had merely a life interest in the property. The quarrel became further aggravated by the personal animosity that arose between Eleanor’s  mother and Peter’s wife, Honora, daughter of James FitzGerald, the Earl of Desmond. Their mutual dislike may have stemmed from the ancient animosity that existed between the MacCarthys and the earls of Desmond. Whether for this reason or for something of a more personal nature, the two ladies goaded their respective spouses against each other, as each plotted her own husband’s triumph. As the feud between the brothers intensified it led to the formation of political affiliations and alliances that were eventually to have repercussions on Eleanor’s future.


Her father filed a suit against his brother in the Court of Chancery. But on the advice of his cousin, Black Tom, who had recently returned from England to enter into his estates and title as Earl of Ormond, Peter refused to appear before the court. Ill-feeling already existed between Eleanor’s father and the new Earl of Ormond, largely as a result of a dispute concerning the validity of the palatine rights pertaining to the earldom. The earl considered that Edmund had further rebuffed his authority by failing to submit his suit against his brother to his palatine court for his judgment. The Court of Chancery found in Edmund’s favour and ordered Peter to restore the disputed Grallagh estate. On the advice of Black Tom, however, Peter refused to comply with the court order. The dispute continued to rage for many years. The legal battle culminated in attacks and reprisals by both brothers on each other and drove an ever-widening wedge, not merely between Edmund and his brother, but with his overlord the Earl of Ormond as well. Eleanor and her family were affected both politically and socially by the baron’s estrangement from the Earl of Ormond. They experienced a sense of isolation as the other tributary lords of Ormond were reluctant to defy their powerful overlord and openly fraternise with the Dunboynes. Few invitations were extended to them to the earl’s court at Clonmel or Kilkenny. The isolation of the Dunboynes left them open to exploitation in the climate of political discord and intrigue which characterised sixteenth-century Munster. In these circumstances it was inevitable that the family would become involved in the long-standing and more intense feud that existed between the Houses of Ormond and Desmond. While the dispute between Eleanor’s father and uncle was to continue unabated until their deaths, when Grallagh was finally restored to the Dunboyne estate, it was to pale into insignificance in comparison to the age-old Desmond–Ormond feud which was about  to erupt anew and engulf Eleanor and all Munster in its spreading flames.


The Butlers’ loyalty to the English Crown was well-established before their arrival in Ireland. Theobald, the founder of the family, was created Chief Butler, one of the hereditary offices of state, by King Henry II. Theobald and his descendants were granted the lucrative prisage of wines, the right to one-tenth of the cargo of any wine ship that broke bulk in Ireland. This privilege was held by the family until, by an act of parliament in 1810, it was finally restored to the Crown. From this hereditary honour came the family name of Butler. The Butler lordship in Ireland comprised the northern half of County Tipperary, including the disputed overlordship of the old Gaelic kingdom of Ely O’Carroll. Successive Butler lords consolidated their positions over the succeeding decades. They upheld the Crown’s interests in the newly-conquered territories and were amply rewarded. In 1315 Edward II gave Edmund Butler the castles and manors of Carrickmagriffon and Roscrea and conferred on him the earldom of Carrick. Edmund’s son James married the niece of Edward III. In 1328 he was created Earl of Ormond and was granted the palatine liberties of Tipperary. In 1392 the third Earl of Ormond acquired the town of Kilkenny, which eventually became the principal seat of the family.


Cheek by jowl with the expanding Butler lordship were the lordships of two other Anglo-Norman dynasts. To the north-east the FitzGeralds of Kildare had prospered, while to the west the FitzGeralds of Desmond had carved out a vast estate at the expense of the native Irish chieftains. It was perhaps inevitable that the ambitions of these great Anglo-Norman families would conflict as they vied with each other for power, land and royal favours.


The ancestors of the FitzGeralds, or, as they became known in Ireland, the Geraldines, were also among the Norman conquerors who invaded Ireland. Their background in England, however, differed greatly from that of the Butlers. Their origins were in the wild marcher lands between England and Wales. After the Norman conquest of England their Italian progenitor Gheraldino was initially granted the lordship of Windsor. From there they advanced into Celtic Wales, where they acquired further lands, both by military and matrimonial means. In 1095 Gerald, the grandson of the original Gheraldino, married the beautiful and notorious Princess Nesta, daughter of the  King of South Wales, and built Carew castle on the lands granted to him in right of his wife. This Gerald was the progenitor of the Geraldines or FitzGeralds of Ireland. He died in 1135, leaving three sons, Maurice, William and David, afterwards Bishop of St Davids. Together with Nesta’s son by her second marriage, Robert FitzStephen, and her illegitimate offspring by a previous liaison with King Henry I, this turbulent brood became a source of constant strife. In the border areas of the Welsh marches they conducted private wars of retribution without the slightest regard for the sovereignty of the English monarch who, in any event, was powerless to control them. It was an able and wily king who could devise the means to rid his kingdom of such independently-minded barons.


An invitation from the Gaelic King of Leinster, Dermot MacMurrough, provided him with the opportunity. At the forefront of the Norman invasion of Ireland was Maurice, son of Gerald of Wales. In return for his services Maurice was granted land in what is now County Kildare and built a strong fortress at Maynooth. The FitzGeralds of Kildare were descended from Maurice’s eldest son, Gerald, and they eventually became powerful overlords of the greater part of Leinster. The FitzGeralds of Munster descended from his youngest son, Thomas. In 1329 Thomas’s great-great-grandson Maurice was created first Earl of Desmond by Edward III and, similar to the Earl of Ormond, was granted the county of Kerry as an hereditary palatine liberty. Both he and his successors extended their power until eventually they claimed the overlordship of a vast area which stretched from north Limerick to Youghal and from Dingle in Kerry to the ancient Gaelic kingdom of the Decies in Waterford.


In the course of time all three houses, partly by reason of their close association and intermarriage with the neighbouring Gaelic aristocracy and partly because of their isolation from their English origins, become gaelicised. Of the three, the Desmonds could be said to have become the most gaelicised. Despite their English titles and honours, they were, true to their Geraldine tradition, outspoken champions of practical independence from the English Crown. In this they tended to have the moral support of their fellow-Geraldines, the Kildares. In 1345, for example, Maurice of Desmond flaunting his power over the Gaelic and gaelicised lords of Munster convened his own parliament in Callan, County Kilkenny. Thereafter the Munster Geraldines tended to withdraw into their remote domains, and in  defiance of England gradually became indistinguishable in tongue, dress and custom from their Gaelic neighbours. Enmity arose between them and their less gaelicised neighbours, the Butlers of Ormond. Their dynastic quarrels were further heightened when each took different sides in the Wars of the Roses in England, fought between the Houses of York and Lancaster, until, finally, the antagonism between the Houses of Ormond and Desmond became entangled in the wider net of political conflict in England.


The Duke of York was the absentee viceroy of Ireland, but his ambitions soared to more exalted office—the Crown of England. After his defeat at the battle of Ludford Bridge and his subsequent conviction for treason, he was replaced as viceroy of Ireland by the Earl of Ormond. York escaped to Ireland and, aided and abetted by the Geraldines, made plans to invade England. In the event York was killed at the battle of Wakefield in 1460, but his ambitions were later realised by his son, who in 1461 was crowned King Edward IV. One of the first casualties of the Yorkist triumph was the Earl of Ormond, who was promptly executed. His brother and heir, Sir John Butler, in an attempt to revitalise the Lancastrian cause in Ireland, rallied his supporters but was defeated at Pilltown by James, the seventh Earl of Desmond. While this incident was, from the Geraldines’ point of view, merely another chapter in the Desmond–Ormond feud, the victory was rewarded by a grateful Yorkist king, who had Desmond’s son and successor, Thomas, confirmed as chief governor of Ireland in 1463.


But despite his apparent Yorkist leanings, the new Earl of Desmond remained independent and as gaelicised as his forebears and attempted to extend Gaelic law and custom into the English Pale. Soon the usually peaceful Pale was aflame. Desmond was speedily replaced by Sir John Tiptoft, who, without apparent royal consent, had Desmond beheaded at Drogheda. The effect on the country was instantaneous. Riots and uprisings erupted throughout Munster and Leinster; the dead earl’s brother with a great army burned and pillaged the Pale. The imprisoned Earl of Kildare was released to calm the situation. Tiptoft was recalled, and the King proclaimed his disapproval of the Earl of Desmond’s execution.


The execution of the earl was the final straw that broke the back of the uneasy alliance between the House of Desmond and the Crown of England. In the succeeding decades the Geraldines of Desmond withdrew from all contact with the Crown and its administration in  Dublin. They turned their backs on their English origins in favour of their adopted Gaelic world, which welcomed them as the premier buffer between it and the English Crown. Their great rivals, the earls of Ormond, continued to hold for the Crown, and many of the succeeding earls spent much of their time at the English court. Now in the second half of the sixteenth century the long-standing feud between both houses had come to rest in the hands of two volatile young heirs—Black Tom, tenth Earl of Ormond and Garrett FitzGerald, fourteenth Earl of Desmond, each eager to uphold the honour of his house by the destruction of the other.


Secure in Kiltinan, surrounded by her large family, Eleanor took little notice of the gathering storm-clouds. Her main preoccupation was that of any young eligible woman: she patiently plied her needle or read her verse and waited and wondered about her marriage prospects. What dashing lord or handsome chieftain would come to Kiltinan to seek her hand? Or would she instead become the prize in some political or financial deal, a sop to placate some ageing, lascivious noble? Fate was often known to deal a cruel hand in the matrimonial stakes. But whatever her thoughts, little could she have realised how inextricably her future would become entangled in the Ormond–Desmond feud which would hurl her into the very eye of the impending storm.




OEBPS/images/Cover.jpg
COUNTESS OF DESMOND

S the vemem mrm.‘v e
C;»w{m‘ e Zasth 4 have: Mo

ACCO¥ANL
£ “a






